Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Kennedy G. Kerr

04/10/2023

Name

Date

Cortical Activation during Standing Balance in Modern Dancers

By

Kennedy G. Kerr

Lena H. Ting, Ph.D. Advisor

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

Lena H. Ting, Ph.D. Advisor

Michael R. Borich, DPT, Ph.D. Committee Member

Madeleine E. Hackney, Ph.D. Committee Member

> George Staib Committee Member

> > 2023

Cortical Activation during Standing Balance in Modern Dancers

By

Kennedy G. Kerr

Lena H. Ting, Ph.D. Advisor

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2023

Abstract

Cortical Activation during Standing Balance in Modern Dancers By Kennedy G. Kerr

Understanding when and how cortical resources are engaged in balance recovery is crucial for assessing balance health prior to diagnosed balance impairments. Following a balance perturbation, a large negative peak (N1) can be recorded by electroencephalography (EEG). We interpret N1 as an error assessment signal that may reflect varying reliance on cortical resources. Analysis of cortical neuronal oscillatory frequency can further characterize EEG activity. The beta band (13-30 Hz) is associated with movement initiation and sensorimotor integration crucial for balance. Here, we investigate whether the N1 response or beta power differ in sensorimotor integration and balance ability experts – professional modern dancers. Because modern dance emphasizes responding to sensory information and correcting balance errors without missing a beat, I hypothesize modern dancers require less cortical sensorimotor integration to maintain balance than non-dancers. I predict that N1 amplitudes following balance perturbations will be smaller in modern dancers than controls and scale with perturbation difficulty. I also predict that dancers will have less sensorimotor cortical beta power following a challenging balance perturbation, and that beta will scale with balance ability within both groups. Testing this hypothesis, we used EEG to record cortical activity throughout a series of support-surface perturbations at varying difficulty. Balance ability, assessed as the mean distance traveled across a narrowing beam was also compared against N1 amplitudes. Overall, N1 amplitudes scaled with perturbation difficulty (p < 0.01), but there was a trend toward dancers having larger N1 amplitudes than controls despite having better balance. There was a visually observed decrease in beta power 150-250 ms post-perturbation, which is after the N1 response. These results differ slightly from my prediction because dancers' N1 amplitudes did not scale with balance ability and were larger than controls while beta power was still less in dancers. N1 amplitude alone may not be a biomarker of worse performance on balance tasks, but rather an error assessment signal that can be sensitized by training.

Cortical Activation during Standing Balance in Modern Dancers

By

Kennedy G. Kerr

Lena H. Ting, Ph.D. Advisor

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Sciences with Honors

Neuroscience and Behavioral Biology

2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Lena Ting, my committee, and members of the Neuromechanics Lab for their continued support and guidance throughout every stage of this project. Thank you for believing in my idea.

Thank you to the participants of this study without whom none of this research would be possible.

I would also like to thank the Emory Center for Mind, Brain, and Culture for funding part of this project through the CMBC Undergraduate Fellowship.

Thank you to the Emory Dance Program for fostering my growth as a dancer, artist, and researcher during my four years at Emory.

I would like to thank my mentor Scott Boebinger for the past two years of training, encouragement, power hours, and laughs. Your guidance continues to be invaluable.

Finally, thank you to my friends and family, some of whom let me put wires on them and make them lose their balance for 4 hours straight, and the rest of whom have listened to my living room presentations and asked the best questions. Your support means the world to me!

Contents

1	Bac	ckground	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Cortical Control of Balance	2
	1.3	Electroencephalography (EEG)	3
	1.4	Cortical Activity in Expert Cohorts	4
	1.5	Hypothesis	5
2	Met	thods	6
	2.1	Participants	6
	2.2	Experimental Protocol	7
		2.2.1 The Step Threshold Series	7
		2.2.2 Planned and Unplanned Stepping Perturbations	8
	2.3	Balance Ability	9
	2.4	Data Analysis	9
		2.4.1 EEG Pre-processing	9
		2.4.2 Quantifying N1 amplitudes and Beta Power	10
3	Res	sults	12
		3.0.1 $$ N1 amplitudes scaled with perturbation difficulty and expectedness $$.	12
		3.0.2 N1 amplitudes trend greater in dancers than nondancers \ldots .	12
		3.0.3 N1 amplitude did not scale with balance ability	13

		3.0.4	In exemplar data, beta decreased less in dancers post-N1	13
4	Dis	cussior	and Conclusions	15
	4.1	Discus	sion	15
		4.1.1	$\rm N1$ amplitudes scaled with perturbation difficulty and expectedness $% 1^{-1}$.	15
		4.1.2	N1 amplitudes trend greater in dancers than nondancers \ldots .	16
		4.1.3	N1 amplitude did not scale with balance ability $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	16
		4.1.4	In exemplar data, beta decreased less in dancers post-N1 \ldots .	17
		4.1.5	Limitations of EEG	17
		4.1.6	Cohort Size	18
		4.1.7	Sex Matching	19
		4.1.8	Potential Implications for Balance Rehabilitation	19
	4.2	Conch	usions	20
Bi	ibliog	graphy		21

List of Figures

2.1	A participant on the platform during data collection	7
2.2	Beam walking setup	9
2.3	Compared to baseline at the time of perturbation onset (left) the greatest	
	change in voltage recorded by EEG following a balance perturbation occurs at	
	the cetral midline electrode (right). Black dots represent electrode placement.	
	Green represents baseline voltage while blue is a decrease in voltage and red is	
	an increase.	10
3.1	Cz electrode traces over time in each perturbation categories. The negative	
	peak in each trace represents the N1. A) For all participants taken together,	
	the mean N1 amplitude is greatest in magnitude following unplanned steps and	
	least in amplitude following planned steps (p<0.01). B) When the data is split	
	into dancers vs. non-dancers, the dancers have visually larger N1 amplitudes	
	than non-dancers in each condition. This result was not statistically significant.	13
3.2	BEAM score vs. N1 amplitude for each individual and perturbation condition.	
	Most dancer BEAM scores are at or above the median, yet do not show a	
	positive correlation with N1 amplitude. Neither dancers' nor non-dancers'	
	BEAM scores were correlated with N1 amplitude in this cohort.	14

3.3 Event related spectral perturbations (ERSPs) for an exemplar control and dancer participant following planned and unplanned step perturbations at time 0. The beta band is 13-30 Hz, and colors represent increases or decreases in beta power from baseline according to the scale to the right of each ERSP. The 50-150 ms and 150-250 ms time bins are denoted with dotted lines. . . . 14

List of Tables

2.1	Participant D	Demographics											•									•						6
-----	---------------	--------------	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	---

Chapter 1

Background

1.1 Introduction

Falls are the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in individuals over the age of 65 [1]. While there are many clinical measures used to assess fall risk in this population, the best predictor of a fall is a still previous fall [2]. Current fall risk assessments are based on indirect, biomechanical measures such as number of steps taken to recover balance [3]. However, there is evidence suggesting that balance health decline begins before measurable changes to biomechanical outcome measures assessed in the clinic. When automatic control of balance is insufficient to maintain balance alone, cortical resources have been shown to become engaged as well, presumably to compensate for inadequate subcortical control [4, 5, 6, 7]. Because these cortical resources can compensate effectively initially, visible balance impairment does not manifest until cortical resources are no longer enough to compensate for balance decline. Understanding when and how balance-correcting cortical resources are recruited in individuals without motor impairment can inform future balance assessments used in impaired populations. Here, we investigate whether cortical responses to balance perturbations differ in a cohort with fine-tuned sensorimotor integration and balance ability – professional modern dancers. Because modern dance training emphasizes responding to

sensory information and correcting balance errors without missing a beat, dancers' balance correcting responses may be more automatic than nondancers'.

1.2 Cortical Control of Balance

Understanding when and how cortical resources are engaged in balance recovery can lead to a better grasp on factors that determine an individual's overall balance health prior to noticeable balance impairments.

During a destabilizing event, an automatic, brainstem-mediated balance correcting muscle response is evoked, followed by longer latency muscle activity that may be cortically mediated [4, 8, 9]. Individuals with lower balance ability can use cortical resources to compensate when the automatic response is insufficient [5, 6, 7]. Specifically, recruited cortical resources may aide in the sensorimotor integration required to sense a loss of balance and then recruit muscles to counteract it [10]. In healthy young adults (HYA), these resources are typically only recruited in very difficult postural conditions, such as those that require a reactive step to regain balance [6].

Reliance on cortical control for maintaining balance is thought to increase with age [4, 7, 11]. Similarly, the difficulty threshold of a destabilizing event necessitating recruitment of cortical resources decreases with age. Evidence for overcompensation on cortical resources with age and motor impairment comes from dual-task studies [5]. The dual-task experimental protocol involves introducing a cognitive task to be performed in conjunction with a balance task. Cognitive tasks require cortical resources, so if the balance task is also utilizing cortical resources such that the total amount of resources required to complete both tasks exceeds the finite amount of resources available, performance on one or both tasks will suffer. HYA are usually unaffected by dual task paradigms, but in both impaired and unimpaired older adults, performance on the balance task decreases when the cognitive task is introduced [5]. Even before the onset of visible balance impairment, this shift toward increased reliance

on cortical resources to maintain balance begins to surpass an individual's total amount of cortical resources. This shift then should be when motor rehabilitation begins as the onset of falls will not occur until long after the subcortical resources governing balance first became insufficient.

1.3 Electroencephalography (EEG)

We can use EEG to quantify cortical resources. EEG records electrical activity from electrodes placed on the scalp overlying the neocortex. Because the cortex is the brain structure closest to the scalp, electrical activity from neurons in the cortex can be picked up by EEG [12]. Conversely, activity from deeper brain structures like the cerebellum or basal ganglia likely will not be recorded.

In the time domain following a balance perturbation, a large negative peak (N1) can be recorded by EEG. The cortical N1 is localized to the supplementary motor area [13] and is thought to be an error assessment signal [14]. As an error assessment signal, N1 amplitude may be a biomarker reflective of increased reliance on cortical resources in difficult postural conditions. Previous work has shown the N1 scales with balance challenge and balance ability in healthy young adults (HYA)[14]. The N1 also is increased in conditions with increased threat and attenuated when balance perturbations are predictable [15], giving further evidence to the N1 as an error detection signal in addition to a sensory integration of environmental stimuli.

A reason for looking at cortical activity during balance beyond attempting to quantify "cortical resources" broadly is to investigate the extent to which cortical sensorimotor integration during balance-correcting responses takes place. To do this, we can analyze synchrony of cortical oscillations over time. Oscillatory activity at distinct frequency ranges occurs during different cortical processes, so isolating raw EEG data into frequency bands gives us insight into the underlying cortical processes at play during and after a balance-correcting response [16].

Circuits of neurons fire in an oscillatory pattern, where an individual neuron will fire when neurons near it fire, triggering the neurons near that neuron to fire as well. As various cognitive processes take place in different neurons, these oscillations can range from 5-50 Hz [16] which are then binned into discreet frequency bands. In this study, we analyze cortical beta (13-30 Hz oscillatory activity) power.

Dance training targets the skill of sensorimotor integration, of which beta power has been identified as a cortical correlate [11, 17, 18]. Beta power specifically has also been associated with maintenance of a current posture and decreases before planned movement [16]. During involuntary, automatic movement, increased beta power is thought to be a biomarker of maintaining a sensorimotor set [16]. Resisting a change in posture following balance perturbation is an example of an attempt to maintain a sensorimotor set. Indeed previous work from the lab demonstrated that sensorimotor cortical beta activity evoked during reactive balance recovery reflects sensorimotor processing as it increased with perturbation magnitude and in individuals with lower balance ability [11, 17].

1.4 Cortical Activity in Expert Cohorts

Dancers are colloquially known and have been shown to have superior balance compared to nondancers [19]. This is intuitive due to the intense training professional dancers receive related to honing good balance. In addition to practicing balance, modern dancers specifically also receive training in improvisational techniques, which require increased spatial awareness, body awareness, and response to environmental stimuli including other dancers [20]. Thus, modern dancers maintain balance by integrating sensory feedback and making adjustments, not necessarily by maintaining their original posture. Previous work in the lab with ballet dancers has shown that dancers' muscle activation patterns are more efficient than nondancers and can be transferrable across tasks [19]. Since motor cortex circuits important for a particular skill become more efficient with training, the transferability in muscle activation patterns across tasks may also be reflected neurophysiologically [21]. Additionally, dance therapies have been shown to increase balance ability in individuals with Parkinson's Disease, although the mechanism for this effect is unclear [22]. Identifying the neural correlates of dancers' balance may provide insight into the ways in which dance therapy can improve balance.

Modern dance training differs from other forms of dance in that it teaches both static and dynamic balance; there are times when dancers must hold a posture, but they also learn how to flow in and out of unstable positions. There is value in leaning into off-balance positions to get to a more stable place rather than training balance just by holding one position. Therefore, their approach to maintaining balance following a balance perturbation may not focus on keeping their current posture.

1.5 Hypothesis

I hypothesize that professional modern dancers require less cortical sensorimotor integration to maintain balance during difficult postural conditions than non-dancer HYA due to training that leads to better automatic sensorimotor integration maintained subcortically.

In testing this hypothesis, I predict that dancers will have less sensorimotor cortical beta power following a challenging balance perturbation, and that beta will scale with balance ability within both groups. During an unplanned, reactive step to recover balance, I predict that dancers, who are trained to recover from precarious balance conditions, will have a smaller change in beta than nondancers.

Chapter 2

Methods

2.1 Participants

We analyzed data from 6 HYA (19-38 years old, 2 female) recruited from Emory University and the surrounding Atlanta community to participate in this study as well as 5 professional modern dancers (20-26 years old, 5 female) who each have at least 10 years of dance training. Exclusion criteria included history of neurological, musculoskeletal, and/or visual impairments (Table 2.1).

Participant Demographics								
Variable	Dancers	Controls						
	(n=5)	(n=6)						
Age, years, mean \pm SE	23.4 ± 0.8	24.3 ± 1.4						
Sex, male/female	0/5	4/2						
Height, cm, mean \pm SE	164.3 ± 2.5	$176.7 {\pm} 6.0$						
BEAM Score, ft, mean±SE	$20.4{\pm}1.2$	$18.8 {\pm} 0.7$						
Step Threshold Magnitude, mean±SE	$14{\pm}1.0$	15 ± 1.2						

 Table 2.1:
 Participant Demographics

2.2 Experimental Protocol

The experimental protocol for this project included two support surface perturbation series. Perturbations were generated by a custom perturbation platform that translates in the forward and backward direction in the horizontal plane (Fig. 2.1). Embedded in the platform is a force plate that records 3D ground-reaction forces used to classify steps [22, 23]. During both series, EEG was used to record cortical activity from the scalp.



Figure 2.1: A participant on the platform during data collection

2.2.1 The Step Threshold Series

First, participants underwent a series of forward support surface perturbations delivered at unpredictable timing at varying magnitudes either above or below individual's step threshold, the magnitude at which an individual will take an unplanned step to regain balance 50% of the time [24]. Due to physical constraints of the platform, only one direction of perturbations could be included in each block of trials. However, to limit habituation we included catch trials randomly interspersed throughout the perturbation block. These trials were small displacement with high acceleration and in the backward direction, opposite of the other perturbations. We chose the forward direction because forward perturbations are more difficult to recover from, and we wanted to avoid a ceiling effect by ensuring that we could deliver a perturbation large enough to exceed all participants' step thresholds. Additionally, because the response to forward perturbations is to lean backward and people have less range of motion in the hip strategy leaning backward compared to leaning forward, these perturbations resulted in less overall body movement, therefore reducing the motion artifact in our EEG data. It takes about 30 trials to identify the individual's step threshold.

2.2.2 Planned and Unplanned Stepping Perturbations

The step threshold from the first perturbation series informed perturbation magnitudes in the second series. Participants were told to either step or not step in response to perturbations, and perturbations above step threshold were only delivered when the instruction was not to step, ensuring trials with unplanned steps. Unplanned step trials were interspersed with no step trials, where the participant did not need to take a step to recover balance with the same instruction. This ensured that there were two difficulty levels: perturbations in which a step was not needed to maintain balance and perturbations in which a step was needed. The "small" perturbation magnitude was equivalent to 60% of the participant's step threshold to ensure that they could recover balance without taking a step and the "large" perturbation magnitude was 140% of participant's step threshold to ensure that participants would be forced to take a step to recover balance. This normalized perturbation challenge across participants with varying step thresholds. Both planned and unplanned steps were recorded by visual inspection and confirmed with the vertical ground reaction forces from the force plate, where a step is defined as a trial in which the vertical load force under a limb drops below 10N in the first 2000ms after perturbation onset. The same catch trials were included in this series as well.

2.3 Balance Ability

Before the perturbation series, participants completed a challenging beam walking task to assess balance ability [19].

Wearing standardized shoes and with their arms crossed, participants attempted to walk all the way across a narrow balance beam (3.66 m long, 1.27 cm wide, 2.56 cm tall) (Fig. 2.2).



Each of 6 beam walking trials ended when the participant reached the end, stepped off the beam, or uncrossed their arms. Beam walking was performed at self-selected speeds, and the only objective participants were given was to try to reach the end of the beam. Balance ability could then be quantified as a BEAM score, or the mean distance traveled across 6 trials. Participants were not instrumented with EEG equipment or kinematic markers during this task.

Figure 2.2: Beam walking setup

2.4 Data Analysis

2.4.1 EEG Pre-processing

A 64-channel set of actiCAP active recording electrodes (Brain Products GmbH, Munich, Germany) recorded brain activity continuously during the perturbation series. Electrode placement was in accordance with the international 10-20 system except for electrodes TP9 and TP10, which were placed directly on the skin over the mastoids. The Fz electrode was used as a reference. Recordings from the Cz electrode over primary motor and supplementary motor cortical regions were analyzed with custom MATLAB scripts and EEGLAB functions. To remove muscle activity and other artifacts from the EEG data, was run through a pre-processing pipeline following specifications outlined in Makoto's widely used pre-processing pipeline [25]. This removed artifacts from blinks, muscle activity, or bad electrodes to isolate

brain activity components in the data.

This pipeline included first removing the epoch baseline, then decreasing the sampling rate of the data from 1000 Hz to 500 Hz and running the data through a 1Hz high-pass filter [26]. A channel was removed if it was flat for more than 5 seconds, had a high-frequency noise standard deviation of more than 4, or had less than a 0.6 correlation with nearby channels [27]. Removed channels were then interpolated and an empty Fz channel was added before computing an average reference. The Cleanline plugin was used to remove the 60 Hz line noise in each channel before extracting epochs for each trial and then running AMICA to identify independent components.

2.4.2 Quantifying N1 amplitudes and Beta Power

Once the data is pre-processed, N1 amplitudes can be quantified as the amplitude of the first negative peak following a perturbation at the central midline electrode (Cz), which overlies the sensorimotor area of the cerebral cortex (Fig. 2.3). These values were then compared to BEAM score and perturbation condition. Beta power was also measured at the Cz electrode. Changes in oscillatory power were quantified in singletrial epochs using wavelet time-frequency analyses in EEGLAB (pop_newtimef.m). A tapered Morlet wavelet with three oscillatory cycles at the lowest frequency (11 Hz), lin-



Figure 2.3: Compared to baseline at the time of perturbation onset (left) the greatest change in voltage recorded by EEG following a balance perturbation occurs at the cetral midline electrode (right). Black dots represent electrode placement. Green represents baseline voltage while blue is a decrease in voltage and red is an increase.

early increasing up to 6 cycles at the highest frequency (50 Hz) was used to measure power at each frequency in a sliding window of 256 ms. This transformation calculated the eventrelated spectral perturbation (ERSP), which represents changes in oscillatory power relative to perturbation onset in a defined set of frequencies [28]. Beta power was separated into 100 ms time bins and then compared against BEAM score and perturbation conditions. 50-150 ms post-perturbation was the time bin that captured the N1 response and 150-250 ms was the time bin that represented cortical activity after the initial N1 error assessment, while the participant is still executing a balance-correcting response.

Chapter 3

Results

3.0.1 N1 amplitudes scaled with perturbation difficulty and expectedness

Over all participants, N1 amplitudes were largest following unplanned steps and smallest following planned steps (p=0.0006) (Fig. 3.1A). N1 amplitudes following no step perturbations were larger than planned step perturbations (p=0.07) even though perturbation magnitudes were 60% of step threshold for both conditions. The difference between unplanned step and no step N1 amplitudes was near significant (p=0.08).

3.0.2 N1 amplitudes trend greater in dancers than nondancers

The trend of unplanned step N1 amplitude > no step > planned step holds when the participants are grouped into dancer and non-dancer categories. However, by visual inspection, the dancer N1 amplitudes appear greater in magnitude than their HYA counterparts in all perturbation conditions (Fig. 3.1B). This difference between dancer and HYA N1 amplitude was not statistically significant.



Figure 3.1: Cz electrode traces over time in each perturbation categories. The negative peak in each trace represents the N1. A) For all participants taken together, the mean N1 amplitude is greatest in magnitude following unplanned steps and least in amplitude following planned steps (p<0.01). B) When the data is split into dancers vs. non-dancers, the dancers have visually larger N1 amplitudes than non-dancers in each condition. This result was not statistically significant.

3.0.3 N1 amplitude did not scale with balance ability

Four of five dancers had a BEAM score at or above the median of 19.08 ft. Within either group and as a whole, BEAM score did not scale with N1 amplitude in any perturbation condition (Fig. 3.2).

3.0.4 In exemplar data, beta decreased less in dancers post-N1

In the time-frequency domain, differences in beta power between groups were not significant in the 50-150 ms post-perturbation time bin, which encompasses the N1 response. Differences in beta power in the 150-250 ms time bin were also not statistically significant. In this time bin, the peak of the N1 response has already occurred yet upon visual inspection, non-dancers showed sustained decrease in beta power that the dancers did not. In Fig. 3.3, the initial large red peak represents an increase in beta at the time of the N1 response and the subsequent blue sections are decreases in beta.



Figure 3.2: BEAM score vs. N1 amplitude for each individual and perturbation condition. Most dancer BEAM scores are at or above the median, yet do not show a positive correlation with N1 amplitude. Neither dancers' nor non-dancers' BEAM scores were correlated with N1 amplitude in this cohort.



Figure 3.3: Event related spectral perturbations (ERSPs) for an exemplar control and dancer participant following planned and unplanned step perturbations at time 0. The beta band is 13-30 Hz, and colors represent increases or decreases in beta power from baseline according to the scale to the right of each ERSP. The 50-150 ms and 150-250 ms time bins are denoted with dotted lines.

Chapter 4

Discussion and Conclusions

4.1 Discussion

In this study, we investigated differences in cortical activity during reactive balance in professional modern dancers compared to non-dancer HYA. We used step thresholds to control for perturbation difficulty across participants undergoing support-surface perturbations. I hypothesized that dancers would require less cortically mediated sensorimotor integration to recover balance, predicting they would have smaller N1 amplitudes and a smaller change in beta post-perturbation, scaling with perturbation difficulty.

4.1.1 N1 amplitudes scaled with perturbation difficulty and expectedness

Across participants, N1 amplitudes were largest following unplanned step trials, followed by no step trials, and planned step N1s were smallest. This is in line with my predictions because planned step perturbations were smaller in magnitude than unplanned step perturbations. However, planned step perturbation trials were the only perturbation type administered when the participant was instructed to take a step regardless of step necessity. No step trials occurred when the instruction was not to take a step and thus were given in the same block as unplanned step trials. Even though the balance challenge for no step and planned step trials were the same, participant expectations regarding which type of perturbation they were going to receive next were more varied in the no step condition. While previous work has found that prior planning of a step does not have an effect on N1 amplitude [14], predictability may [15]. Since the N1 is an error assessment signal, the possibility for error in the expected outcome of a perturbation is much greater in blocks of trials where there is uncertainty regarding the magnitude and subsequent balance correcting response of a perturbation.

4.1.2 N1 amplitudes trend greater in dancers than nondancers

All dancers had larger N1 amplitudes than the average HYA N1 in each condition. Although not statistically significant potentially due to small group size, the observed trend differs from my prediction that N1 amplitudes would be smaller in dancers. Since each dancer had a BEAM score above the median score (Fig. 3.2) and N1 amplitude has been shown to be smaller in HYA with better balance [29], I expected dancer N1 amplitudes to be smaller than non-dancer HYA. The N1 response has been thought to be a potential biomarker of increased cortical engagement following balance perturbation, indicating worse balance ability. While dancers may not fear a fall, they may be more responsive to small threats to their balance and respond accordingly. Therefore, N1 amplitude may be an indicator of attentiveness to postural perturbation, and increased in both professional dancers and HYA with poor balance potentially, creating a U-shaped function across balance ability. In terms then of "cortical response greater than nondancers, differing from my hypothesis that dancer balance recovery would be more automatic than cortical.

4.1.3 N1 amplitude did not scale with balance ability

Dancers had generally better balance than nondancers as their BEAM scores were all at or above median. However, they did not follow the expected trend in HYA where balance ability scales with N1 amplitude [14]. Even though dancer N1 amplitudes were not statistically larger in magnitude than non-dancers', the lack of expected association between BEAM score and N1 demonstrates that dancer neurophysiological responses to balance perturbations may be different from other HYA due to factors other than better balance.

4.1.4 In exemplar data, beta decreased less in dancers post-N1

Changes in beta between dancers and nondancers were not significant in the time bin that encompassed the N1 peak, which is in line with the above lack of significant difference between N1 amplitudes between groups. In the time bin following the N1 peak, the between group difference was still not significant but showed a visually observed trend. Dancers trended toward having a smaller decrease in beta in the 150-250 ms time bin. This result matches my prediction that dancers would require less cortical sensorimotor integration to recover balance, manifesting neurophysiologically as a smaller change in beta power. The combination of trends toward larger N1 amplitudes and smaller changes in beta in dancers presents an interesting interpretation of dancer balance. The larger N1 may represent a fine-tuned sensitivity to perturbations to balance, but the smaller decrease in beta shows that once the balance error has been assessed, less cortical resources are recruited to correct balance. Dancers may have greater cortical error assessment than nondancers, but during their balance recovery utilizes less cortical resources. Their training may have an effect on attentiveness to changes in balance, resulting in greater cortical activity in the error assessment stage of the balance respond. Then, since their balance correcting actions are more automatic, the cortical response after their initial error assessment may be less cortically mediated.

4.1.5 Limitations of EEG

While EEG is a widely used technology for non-invasive data collection with human subjects, there are some key trade-offs to consider when drawing conclusions. EEG has high temporal resolution which allows us to analyze the time course of brain activity. However, each electrode can pick up activity from sources throughout the brain, so there is low spatial resolution [12]. To combat this, we localize our data to the Cz electrode which is located on top of the head, over the supplementary motor area. It is also where we see the N1 response most clearly. Since we see the cortical N1 at Cz, this electrode does pick up cortical activity following perturbations. However, brain activity from distant regions of the brain is also picked up by Cz, and conversely cortical activity is picked up by electrodes further from Cz. Analyzing EEG data in the source space rather than the electrode space will be helpful in further analysis. Using independent component analysis to group electrode activity into key sources that are comprised of electrical activity from multiple electrode channels can give results with reduced noise [30]. However, since the N1 response can still be split across several independent components while Cz is closest in physical proximity to the supplementary motor area, we chose to stay in electrode space for this N1 analysis.

4.1.6 Cohort Size

Due to the fixed timeline of this project, at the time of presentation, both experimental groups have less than 10 participants. This study relied on human participants who took time out of their day to participate in a 4 hour data collection in addition to at least two lab members not including myself who were crucial for experimental setup and execution. In addition to navigating the schedules of many to make this work possible, we also ran into a pre-processing pipeline issue that stalled data collection for one full semester until the bug was identified and resolved. All of this together contributed to the current study being underpowered. Small group size has implications for statistical significance. It is difficult to determine if data points are creating a trend or just outliers when there are so few. For example, the trend of dancers having larger N1 amplitudes than nondancers was not found to be statistically significant because the standard deviation of N1 amplitude for both groups was large enough to block out the observed difference. However, the trends we have observed

thus far are still enough to prompt continued collection of dancer data to determine if trends hold in a larger dancer cohort.

4.1.7 Sex Matching

Due to availability of participants and time constraints, the current control and experimental groups are not adequately sex matched. Sex differences in EEG data have not been studied extensively. There is evidence that overall amplitude of beta oscillations is grater in HYA females at rest, but whether this affects the change in beta in other conditions is unknown [31]. In older and impaired adult cohorts, females have been associated with greater instance of falls [32, 33, 34]. Dual task error has also been able to distinguish fallers from non-fallers in females better than in males [34]. Since there is some evidence of EEG sex differences in HYA and more evidence that sex is a predictor of fall risk, especially when cortical resources are over-compensating to control balance, we will focus on recruiting sex-matched participants as we continue this study in order to adequately determine any effect of sex on outcome measures.

4.1.8 Potential Implications for Balance Rehabilitation

Older adults (OA) have also been shown to have larger N1 amplitudes than HYA [35], which has been interpreted as evidence of their lower balance ability and potential fall risk. If OA are at greater risk for falls, then it may be advantageous to be more sensitive to balance perturbations, resulting in a larger N1 amplitude. A sensitive error assessment might then be helpful for maintaining a balance rather than an indicator of poor balance. The N1 response alone may not be enough to assess balance ability or fall risk of an individual, since dancers trended toward a larger N1 but subsequent less recruitment of cortical resources governing the motor output of the balance-correcting response. Since dance therapies are being used for balance rehabilitation in motor impaired populations with success [36, 37, 38], knowing how dance affects neurophysiological responses is helpful for assessing individual progress during rehabilitation. Dance may cause cortical error assessment to be greater while simultaneously helping to improve balance. Therefore, aiming for individuals in rehabilitation to have an N1 response more similar to HYA may not be a useful or achievable goal. Instead, a greater N1 response coupled with balance rehabilitation may assist in improved balance because an individual is more sensitive to a potential balance perturbation and more equipped to counteract it successfully.

4.2 Conclusions

The aim of this project was to identify whether modern dancers recruit "cortical resources" less than nondancers to recover balance. Analyzing EEG data in the time domain and time-frequency domain at face value have answered this research question both no and yes. If considering the N1 error assessment signal as evidence of "cortical resources", then dancer balance correction may actually be more cortically mediated than nondancers'. If considering changes in beta power following the initial N1 response, dancers may have a more automatic than cortically mediated balance-correcting response. Taken together, these results may show that dancers have an increased sensitivity to changes in their balance due to a larger N1 amplitude, being able to detect slight changes in their current posture using cortical resources. After this initial error assessment, the balance-correcting muscle response itself may be more automatic due to training of sensorimotor integration skills that allow for subcortically-mediated balance correction. These findings may impact the way that we think about balance rehabilitation and our definitions of appropriate evaluations of balance improvement or fall risk.

Bibliography

- Silvia Deandrea, Ersilia Lucenteforte, Francesca Bravi, Roberto Foschi, Carlo La Vecchia, and Eva Negri. Risk factors for falls in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 21(5):658–668, September 2010. ISSN 1531-5487. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181e89905.
- [2] Simon Gates, Lesley A. Smith, Joanne D. Fisher, and Sarah E. Lamb. Systematic review of accuracy of screening instruments for predicting fall risk among independently living older adults. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 45(8):1105–1116, 2008. ISSN 1938-1352.
- [3] Bastiaan R. Bloem, Johan Marinus, Quincy Almeida, Lee Dibble, Alice Nieuwboer, Bart Post, Evzen Ruzicka, Christopher Goetz, Glenn Stebbins, Pablo Martinez-Martin, Anette Schrag, and Movement Disorders Society Rating Scales Committee. Measurement instruments to assess posture, gait, and balance in Parkinson's disease: Critique and recommendations. Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society, 31(9):1342–1355, September 2016. ISSN 1531-8257. doi: 10.1002/mds.26572.
- [4] B. E. Maki and W. E. McIlroy. Cognitive demands and cortical control of human balance-recovery reactions. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 114(10):1279–1296, October 2007. ISSN 1435-1463. doi: 10.1007/s00702-007-0764-y. URL https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00702-007-0764-y.
- [5] A. Shumway-Cook, M. Woollacott, K. A. Kerns, and M. Baldwin. The Effects of Two

Types of Cognitive Tasks on Postural Stability in Older Adults With and Without a History of Falls. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 52A(4):M232-M240, July 1997. ISSN 1079-5006, 1758-535X. doi: 10.1093/gerona/52A.4.M232. URL https://academic.oup.com/biomedgerontology/ article-lookup/doi/10.1093/gerona/52A.4.M232.

- [6] Marjorie Woollacott and Anne Shumway-Cook. Attention and the control of posture and gait: a review of an emerging area of research. *Gait & Posture*, 16(1):1–14, August 2002. ISSN 0966-6362.
- [7] J. V. Jacobs and F. B. Horak. Cortical control of postural responses. Journal of Neural Transmission (Vienna, Austria: 1996), 114(10):1339–1348, 2007. ISSN 0300-9564. doi: 10.1007/s00702-007-0657-0.
- [8] Fay B. Horak. Postural orientation and equilibrium: what do we need to know about neural control of balance to prevent falls? Age and Ageing, 35(suppl_2): ii7-ii11, September 2006. ISSN 1468-2834, 0002-0729. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afl077. URL http://academic.oup.com/ageing/article/35/suppl_2/ii7/15654/ Postural-orientation-and-equilibrium-what-do-we.
- [9] Fay B. Horak and Jane M. Macpherson. Postural Orientation and Equilibrium. In *Comprehensive Physiology*, pages 255–292. American Cancer Society, 2011. ISBN 978-0-470-65071-4. doi: 10.1002/cphy.cp120107. URL http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/cphy.cp120107. _eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/cphy.cp120107.
- [10] Steven M. Peterson and Daniel P. Ferris. Group-level cortical and muscular connectivity during perturbations to walking and standing balance. *NeuroImage*, 198: 93-103, September 2019. ISSN 10538119. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.05.038. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1053811919304306.

- [11] Nina J. Ghosn, Jacqueline A. Palmer, Michael R. Borich, Lena H. Ting, and Aiden M. Payne. Cortical Beta Oscillatory Activity Evoked during Reactive Balance Recovery Scales with Perturbation Difficulty and Individual Balance Ability. *Brain Sciences*, 10(11):860, November 2020. ISSN 2076-3425. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10110860. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3425/10/11/860.
- Michael R. Borich, Katlyn E. Brown, Bimal Lakhani, and Lara A. Boyd. Applications of Electroencephalography to Characterize Brain Activity: Perspectives in Stroke. Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy, 39(1):43, January 2015. ISSN 1557-0576. doi: 10.1097/NPT.00000000000072. URL https://journals.lww.com/jnpt/Fulltext/2015/01000/Applications_of_Electroencephalography_to.7.aspx.
- [13] Amanda Marlin, George Mochizuki, William R. Staines, and William E. McIlroy. Localizing evoked cortical activity associated with balance reactions: does the anterior cingulate play a role? *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 111(12):2634-2643, June 2014. ISSN 0022-3077. doi: 10.1152/jn.00511.2013. URL https://journals.physiology.org/doi/full/10. 1152/jn.00511.2013. Publisher: American Physiological Society.
- [14] Payne, AM and Ting, LH. Balance perturbation-evoked cortical N1 responses are larger when stepping and not influenced by motor planning. *Submitted for Publication*, 2020.
- [15] Aiden M. Payne, Lena H. Ting, and Greg Hajcak. Do sensorimotor perturbations to standing balance elicit an error-related negativity? *Psychophysiology*, 56(7):e13359, July 2019. ISSN 1540-5958. doi: 10.1111/psyp.13359.
- [16] Andreas K Engel and Pascal Fries. Beta-band oscillations—signalling the status quo? *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 20(2):156-165, April 2010. ISSN 09594388. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2010.02.015. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0959438810000395.
- [17] Jacqueline A. Palmer, Aiden M. Payne, Lena H. Ting, and Michael R. Borich. Prefrontal-

motor and somatosensory-motor cortical network interactions during reactive balance are associated with distinct aspects of balance behavior in older adults. *bioRxiv*, page 2021.01.30.428951, February 2021. doi: 10.1101/2021.01.30.428951. URL https:// www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.01.30.428951v1. Publisher: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Section: New Results.

- [18] Recep A. Ozdemir, Jose L. Contreras-Vidal, and William H. Paloski. Cortical control of upright stance in elderly. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, 169:19–31, January 2018. ISSN 1872-6216. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2017.12.004.
- [19] Andrew Sawers, Jessica L. Allen, and Lena H. Ting. Long-term training modifies the modular structure and organization of walking balance control. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 114(6):3359–3373, December 2015. ISSN 1522-1598. doi: 10.1152/jn.00758.2015.
- [20] Pil Hansen, Emma A. Climie, and Robert J. Oxoby. The Demands of Performance Generating Systems on Executive Functions: Effects and Mediating Processes. Frontiers in Psychology, 11, 2020. ISSN 1664-1078. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/ articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01894.
- [21] Andrew E. Papale and Bryan M. Hooks. Circuit changes in motor cortex during motor skill learning. *Neuroscience*, 368:283–297, January 2018. ISSN 1873-7544. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.09.010.
- [22] J. Lucas McKay, Lena H. Ting, and Madeleine E. Hackney. Balance, Body Motion, and Muscle Activity After High-Volume Short-Term Dance-Based Rehabilitation in Persons With Parkinson Disease: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy*, 40(4):257, October 2016. ISSN 1557-0576. doi: 10.1097/NPT. 000000000000150. URL https://journals.lww.com/jnpt/Fulltext/2016/10000/ Balance,_Body_Motion,_and_Muscle_Activity_After.7.aspx.
- [23] Kimberly C. Lang, Madeleine E. Hackney, Lena H. Ting, and J. Lucas McKay. Antagonist

muscle activity during reactive balance responses is elevated in Parkinson's disease and in balance impairment. *PLOS ONE*, 14(1):e0211137, January 2019. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211137. URL https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article? id=10.1371/journal.pone.0211137. Publisher: Public Library of Science.

- [24] Jeremy R. Crenshaw and Kenton R. Kaufman. The intrarater reliability and agreement of compensatory stepping thresholds of healthy subjects. *Gait & posture*, 39(2):810-815, February 2014. ISSN 0966-6362. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2013.11.006. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3910088/.
- [25] Makoto Miyakoshi. Makoto's preprocessing pipeline SCCN. URL https://sccn.ucsd. edu/wiki/Makoto's_preprocessing_pipeline.
- [26] Arnaud Delorme and Scott Makeig. EEGLAB: an open source toolbox for analysis of single-trial EEG dynamics including independent component analysis. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 134(1):9–21, March 2004. ISSN 0165-0270. doi: 10.1016/j. jneumeth.2003.10.009.
- [27] Kay A. Robbins, Jonathan Touryan, Tim Mullen, Christian Kothe, and Nima Bigdely-Shamlo. How Sensitive Are EEG Results to Preprocessing Methods: A Benchmarking Study. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, 28(5): 1081–1090, May 2020. ISSN 1558-0210. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2020.2980223. Conference Name: IEEE Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering.
- [28] Scott Makeig. Auditory event-related dynamics of the EEG spectrum and effects of exposure to tones. *Electroencephalography & Clinical Neurophysiology*, 86(4):283–293, 1993. ISSN 0013-4694(Print). doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(93)90110-H. Place: Netherlands Publisher: Elsevier Science.
- [29] Aiden M. Payne and Lena H. Ting. Worse balance is associated with larger perturbation-

evoked cortical responses in healthy young adults. *Gait & Posture*, 80:324–330, July 2020. ISSN 1879-2219. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.06.018.

- [30] Amanda Studnicki, Ryan J. Downey, and Daniel P. Ferris. Characterizing and Removing Artifacts Using Dual-Layer EEG during Table Tennis. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, 22 (15):5867, August 2022. ISSN 1424-8220. doi: 10.3390/s22155867.
- [31] Adele E. Cave and Robert J. Barry. Sex differences in resting EEG in healthy young adults. International Journal of Psychophysiology: Official Journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology, 161:35–43, March 2021. ISSN 1872-7697. doi: 10. 1016/j.ijpsycho.2021.01.008.
- [32] Joe Verghese, Cuiling Wang, Emmeline Ayers, Meltem Izzetoglu, and Roee Holtzer. Brain activation in high-functioning older adults and falls. *Neurology*, 88(2):191–197, January 2017. ISSN 0028-3878. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000003421. URL https: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5224713/.
- [33] Marjolein A. van der Marck, Margit Ph C. Klok, Michael S. Okun, Nir Giladi, Marten Munneke, and Bastiaan R. Bloem. Consensus-based clinical practice recommendations for the examination and management of falls in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 20(4):360–369, April 2014. ISSN 1353-8020, 1873-5126. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2013.10.030. URL https://www.prd-journal.com/article/S1353-8020(13)00447-1/fulltext. Publisher: Elsevier.
- [34] Pablo Tomas-Carus, Clarissa Biehl-Printes, Catarina Pereira, Guida Veiga, Armando Costa, and Daniel Collado-Mateo. Dual task performance and history of falls in community-dwelling older adults. *Experimental Gerontology*, 120:35–39, June 2019. ISSN 0531-5565. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.02.015. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0531556518307976.
- [35] Aiden M. Payne, Jacqueline A. Palmer, J. Lucas McKay, and Lena H. Ting. Lower

Cognitive Set Shifting Ability Is Associated With Stiffer Balance Recovery Behavior and Larger Perturbation-Evoked Cortical Responses in Older Adults. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 13, 2021. ISSN 1663-4365. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/ articles/10.3389/fnagi.2021.742243.

- [36] Madeleine E. Hackney and Kathleen McKee. Community-based adapted tango dancing for individuals with Parkinson's disease and older adults. *Journal of Visualized Experiments: JoVE*, (94):52066, December 2014. ISSN 1940-087X. doi: 10.3791/52066.
- [37] Madeleine E. Hackney and Gammon M. Earhart. Effects of dance on gait and balance in Parkinson's disease: a comparison of partnered and nonpartnered dance movement. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 24(4):384–392, May 2010. ISSN 1552-6844. doi: 10.1177/1545968309353329.
- [38] Kathleen E. McKee and Madeleine E. Hackney. The effects of adapted tango on spatial cognition and disease severity in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Motor Behavior*, 45(6): 519–529, 2013. ISSN 1940-1027. doi: 10.1080/00222895.2013.834288.